1970

Gordon Berlant v. John S. Mcallister, Adminis- Trator of the Estates of Grant Kimball Mower and Altha Mower, His Wife, Deceased : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 22, 1965, an automobile driven by B.Y.U. student, Gordon Berlant, collided with an automobile being driven by Grant Kimball Mower on a public highway in Sanpete County, Utah. Gordon Berlant and one of his passengers were seriously injured and another of his passengers was killed. Grant Kimball Mower and his wife, Altha Mower, who was a passenger in the Mower car, died of injuries received in the collision. On November 1, 1968, the Plaintiff, Gordon Berlant, brought suit in Sanpete County against John S. McAllister as administrator of the estate of Grant Kimball Mower to recover damages for his injuries.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Following service of Plaintiff's complaint, McAllister filed an answer and counterclaim. Berlant tendered the defense of the counterclaim to his liability insurer which thereupon filed a reply to McAllister's counterclaim alleging as a defense a certain release previously procured by Berlant's insurer from McAllister. McAllister then filed a motion for summary judgment. The trial court granted Defendant's motion and entered a summary judgment of no cause of action in favor of the Defendant McAllister and against the Plaintiff and dismissed the action with prejudice.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the order dismissing his complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Gordon Berlant, a resident of San Mateo, California (See (R. 3), and his two passengers, Linda Richardson Jasperson and Marilyn Lamoreaux, all B.Y.U. students, were all injured in a head-on automobile collision with a vehicle owned and operated by Grant Mower. (R. 88) Berlant's liability insurer, Farmers Insurance Exchange, was notified of the accident and, acting under Berlant's policy, effected a settlement of claims asserted for the

deaths of Grant Kimball Mower and Altha F. Mower in April of 1966 by paying Defendant, John S. McAllister, the administrator of the Mower estates, the sum of \$5,-150.00 and taking a release from McAllister. The settlement and release was approved by the Probate Division of the District Court of Sanpete County. (R. 21-24, 79) This settlement took place although Berlant and his surviving passenger, Linda Richardson Jasperson, had previously informed Berlant's insurer that Berlant was on his own side of the road at the time of the collision. (R. 74) The settlement was effected without Berlant's prior knowledge or consent. He did not participate therein and later, upon learning of the settlement, objected thereto. (R. 66, 74-75, 78)

Some time prior to November, 1968, J. Rulon Morgan, of the law firm of Morgan and Payne, commenced two separate actions in Sanpete County on behalf of Berlant's passengers against Defendant, John S. McAllister. Civil No. 5682 was filed on behalf of Linda Richardson Jasperson; the other; Civil No. 5681, on behalf of Alan R. Morgan as administrator of the estate of Marilyn Lamoreaux. Until the latter part of 1967 Berlant thought he was also being represented by J. Rulon Morgan. (R. 75) However, in the latter part of 1967 Mr. Morgan advised Berlant that a conflict of interest prevented such representation and that Berlant should contact Attorney Don Hanson, counsel for Berlant's liability insurer. (R. 75) Berlant did so and was informed by Don Hanson in 1968 that the latter would not undertake Berlant's representation ex-

cept to defend. (R. 75, 76) There was some discussion by Berlant and Mr. Morgan regarding the possibility of settlement of the claims of Berlant's passengers and Berlant's claims together; and prior to November 17, 1968, J. Rulon Morgan undertook to draft and send a form of complaint to Berlant which Berlant signed and filed without an attorney's signature. (R. 3, 64)

Mr. Morgan assisted Berlant in appropriately responding to a motion to quash and to a demand for the posting of security for costs. (See R. 4, 8, 10, 11, 13) McAllister thereafter filed an answer and counterclaim (R. 14-17) in which he pleaded the settlement as an "accord and satisfaction agreement" in his fourth defense and as working an estoppel in his fifth defense. The counterclaim was presented to Berlant's insurer who referred the representation to the attorney normally handling insurance defense work for the company, Mr. Don Hanson. Mr. Hanson appeared for Berlant and filed a reply. (R. 19-20, 79) The reply so filed pleaded the settlement and release as one affirmative defense. (R. 20) The order of the probate division of the court approving the settlement and form of release and a copy of the release were made exhibits to the reply. (R. 20-24) McAllister thereupon filed a motion for summary judgment urging that the reply which pleaded the release was a conclusive showing that "as a matter of law the parties entered into a conclusive and binding arrangement to settle the dispute between them in April of 1966." (R. 25)

Berlant was unable to secure independent representation until after the hearing on McAllister's motion for summary judgment but soon thereafter employed Attorney Udell R. Jensen. (R. 75, 76) Mr. Jensen had attended the hearing on McAllister's motion for summary judgment at Berlant's request. At the hearing, all counsel there present apparently acquiescing, a decision was postponed so as to allow Berlant to find counsel and determine his position as to the reply. (R. 77) Mr. Jensen then conducted a factual investigation and on September 7, 1969, found two Sanpete County residents, LaRell Larsen and Reva Larsen, his wife, with knowledge of the facts who had not been located or interviewed by the investigating officers or Berlant's insurer even though they were present at the scene of the accident until the injured were removed. (R. 78, 83-85) The Larsens reported that the northbound Mower vehicle had passed their vehicle while they were traveling north following a snow plow which was casting up a great cloud of snow and that the collision occurred as the Mower vehicle traveled north on the west (wrong) side of the road and moved into the snow cloud near the snow plow where it met the southbound Berlant vehicle head on. (R. 83-85)

On September 2, 1969 (five days before Udell R. Jensen located the Larsen witnesses), the trial court entered an order finding that McAllister's motion for summary judgment should be granted. (R. 68-70)

Thereafter, Berlant's attorney, Udell Jensen, filed a motion to vacate the order and to permit Berlant to amend his complaint and the reply filed by Berlant's insurer. This motion was never directly acted on.

On March 12, 1970, the trial court entered summary judgment in favor of Defendant McAllister, no cause of action, and dismissed the entire action with prejudice as to all parties.

The position Berlant's insurance carrier concerning McAllister's motion, the settlement and release taken by it, and the effect of the reply it filed on behalf of Berlant which raised the release as a defense is set forth in a memorandum which appears in the record at pages 79 to 81. Berlant's policy of insurance was not presented to the trial court and so is not a part of the record. It is a standard printed form policy, however. The material portion thereof provides that the insurer is obligated

“to pay all damages which the insured becomes legally obliged to pay because of (A) bodily injury to any person and/or (B) damages to property arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the described automobile or a non-insured automobile, and to defend, at its expense, any suit against the insured for such damages; but the company may make such settlement of any claim or suit as it deems advisable.” (R. 49)

Berlant's insurer contends that under the policy it had "a right to investigate, defend or settle any claims . . . against Berlant"; that acting pursuant to its authority it settled claims made by McAllister as administrator of the estates of Grant Kimball Mower and Altha Mower; that "the Plaintiff may elect to rely on and take advantage of the settlement which the insurance carrier effected; and that if he has so elected, or does so elect, this case should be dismissed in its entirety"; and that, in any event, the settlement made discharges all of its obligations under the policy so that if the action under the counterclaim should proceed, it would have no obligation to defend nor to pay any judgment above the amount of the settlement previously made.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE SETTLEMENT BERLANT'S INSURER MADE WITH MCALLISTER AND THE RELEASE GIVEN BY MCALLISTER EVIDENCING THE SAME HAVE NO APPLICATION TO NOR EFFECT ON BERLANT'S CLAIM AGAINST MCALLISTER.

A. The Release Does Not Constitute an Admission of Liability on the Part of Berlant in Causing the Accident.

The Plaintiff Berlant's complaint having been dismissed on a motion for summary judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to have this Court view the evidence and all inferences arising therefrom in the light most favorable to him; and if it appears that Plaintiff could establish a right to recovery, the judgment dismissing the action should be set aside. *Reliable Furniture Co. v. Fidelity & Guar. Ins. Underwriters, Inc.*, 16 Utah 2d 211, 398 P.2d 685 (1965) and *Thompson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 16 Utah 2d 30, 395 P.2d 62 (1964).

Here there is no transcript and the material facts are disclosed solely by the pleadings in the record. While certain of the physical facts concerning the cause of the accident itself may be disputed by the Defendant, if the facts as to how the accident occurred described by Berlant and particularly LaRell Larsen and Reva Larsen are true, a verdict for Plaintiff must follow. (See R. 83-85)

This notwithstanding, the trial court dismissed Plaintiff's complaint on the basis of the release executed by Defendant McAllister obtained by Berlant's insurer in settling with McAllister without Berlant's knowledge and contrary to what Berlant had previously informed his insurer and which was plead by the insurer as a defense to McAllister's counterclaim.

The basic issue thus presented is whether a motorist's liability insurance carrier compromises, settles and dis-

charges its insured's claims for bodily injury arising out of an accident by the mere process of paying a sum to the other party to the accident in settlement of any claims he might have against the insured and by procuring a release from such other party.

Plaintiff submits that it certainly does not; that the insurer had no authority to do so and did not do so (despite the memorandum of position with contrary implications filed by the insured). (R. 79-81) In the event it did do so or attempt to do so, it must respond in damages to its insured; and in no event could such a purported discharge by the insurer bind Berlant under the undisputed facts of this case.

Plaintiff can conceive of only three theories upon which the subject release might have been held to bar Plaintiff's suit. First, it may be claimed to constitute a conclusive admission of causative, contributory negligence on Plaintiff's part as a matter of law. Second, it may be argued that such settlement was a mutual, agreed release of claims constituting an undertaking by each party not to sue the other for claims arising from the accident. Third, it might be the basis for the application of the doctrine of promissory estoppel. The second and third of these possibilities are discussed below.

As to the first possible theory of the effect of the release on Berlant's claims, the question is: Does the re-

lease constitute a conclusive admission of causative negligence on the part of the insured so as to require dismissal of the insured's suit against the representative of the Defendant? The obvious answer is no. It is readily apparent from the language of the release that there is no statement as to who was to blame or even that McAllister had a legitimate claim. It expressly provided that the settlement did not constitute an admission of any fault whatever on the part of Berlant. (R. 23-24) Thus, the release provides in the third paragraph that the surviving Mower children "may" have a cause of action against Berlant by reason of the claimed wrongful death of the Mowers. In the fifth paragraph McAllister acknowledged receipt of \$5,150.00 in full satisfaction of "any claims" which the children and heirs "may" have against Berlant and released Berlant and his representatives from claims McAllister and the children and heirs "may have." In the sixth paragraph McAllister acknowledged that the settlement was made for the purpose of making "a full and final compromise, adjustment and settlement of any and all claims, disputed or otherwise, on account of the deaths, injuries and damages above mentioned." The sole and only deaths, injuries and damages mentioned anywhere in the release are "the deaths of Grant Kimball Mower and Altha Mower, including any and all claims for their deaths or personal injuries and property damage . . ." as set forth in the last part of the fifth paragraph and also as mentioned in the first and third paragraphs.

*Even if the release had not contained the last paragraph disclaiming any admission of negligence, neither it nor the settlement could be urged as an admission of liability under Section 31-1-15, Utah Code Annotated (1953): "Liability insurance--Settlement of claim nor admission of liability--settlement or partial settlement of a claim against any insured"

The final paragraph of the release re-emphasizes the purpose and intent of the settlement and expressly and positively disclaims and repudiates any possible inference of an admission of liability on the part of Berlant in the following language:

“It is further understood and agreed that by the payment of said sum of money Gordon Berlant does so by way of compromise of the claims and demands aforesaid *and without prejudice or admitting any liability therefor by himself or his successors.*” (Emphasis added) (R. 24)

It would be extremely difficult to state more plainly that the settlement was to compromise a matter in dispute only and that no liability of any sort was admitted. Unless the latter provision must be altogether stricken from the release by some heretofore unsuspected rule of law and the whole tenor of the release altered and its intent corrupted, its plain, unambiguous language is finally dispositive, not only of Defendant's defenses based on the release, but of Defendant's counterclaim as well.

In short, the release itself makes abundantly clear that in executing it McAllister agreed that no admission against Berlant's interest whatever clung to the settlement made. This plain and unambiguous feature of the settlement and release, whether good, bad or indifferent, was acceptable to McAllister, to Don Tibbs, his personal attorney, and to the judge who expressly approved it on May 16, 1966. (R. 22) ✕

der a liability insurance policy shall be construed as an
 mission by either the insured or the insurer of liability of
 e insured with respect to any claims arising from the same
 ent or set of facts whether the settlement is made by the
 insured, the insurer or any other person on behalf of the
 insured or the insurer.”

Defendant did not explain to the court below why it should in effect strike the last paragraph of the release and force into or upon it an admission contrary to its terms, as though all parties drafting or approving it, including the probate court, somehow acted incompetently or without authority or contrary to law. Perhaps Defendant will enlighten this Court in this regard.

The general policy of the law is precisely the opposite to Defendant's contentions and the result below, as evidenced by the rule that offers of compromise and settlement are generally inadmissible in evidence. 29 Am. Jur. 2d, Evidence, §§ 624, 629 and 632; *Annot.*, 20 ALR 2d 304.

The subject release would clearly be inadmissible, even in any suit by Berlant's passengers against McAllister and Berlant. *City Transportation Company of Dallas v. Vasures*, 278 S.W. 2d 373 (Tex. 1955). In the City case a passenger sued the taxi company in whose taxi she was riding and the owner and operator of the vehicle with which the taxi collided. The taxi company sought to introduce evidence of a settlement made with it by the insurer of the owner of the other vehicle which had acted unilaterally and without informing its insured. The court observed that even though payment of a claim in full can be offered as an admission against or of liability against the party paying the claim, payment by an

insurer obviously cannot be used as an admission of liability against an insured who has had nothing to do with the settlement.

“Certainly, it cannot be said that actions taken without his knowledge or consent can constitute admissions against interest or of liability as to him.” 278 S.W.2d at 375.

The court further observed that since a party may explain why he paid a claim, this would bring the fact of the existence of insurance before the jury, which the law disfavors. It held that when the insurer paid the claim of the taxi company, it did so acting in its own interest and such could not be used against the insured as an admission against interest or of liability.

To the same effect is *Jackson v. Clark*, 351 S.W.2d 292 (Tex. 1961) where the insurer conducting its insured’s defense had paid a third party in a three-car accident. Such could not be shown as an admission against interest against the insured who had not participated in the settlement.

Berlant’s policy, like other standard policies, gives or purports to give the insurer discretion, whether or not to settle or try claims. Consequently, an insurer’s unilateral settlement of a claim is irrelevant to a suit brought by the insured for injuries suffered in the same accident. *Wieding v. Krisch*, 271 S.W.2d 458 (Tex. 1954).

In 6 BERRY, *Law of Automobiles*, § 623, cited in the *Wieding* case, the rule is stated as follows :

“The fact that the company’s adjuster settled a claim made against the insured for damages to a machine which collided with the insured’s machine, the accident being due to the fault of the claimant, does not bar insured from recovering from him for damages to his machine, insured having nothing to do with making the settlement, and being prohibited by the policy from interfering therewith.”

However, counsel for Defendant’s insurer and counsel for Plaintiff’s insurer both blandly presume (although they have yet to forthrightly argue) that insurance companies are omniscient and infallible and would never settle unless their insured was very clearly legally liable and that the courts should therefore defer and adhere to the insurer’s conclusions, binding all the world thereto. including objecting insureds, as a matter of law. Nothing whatever was cited to the lower court from the insurance code or otherwise endowing insurers with omniscience or otherwise justifying such a presumption. To the contrary, Plaintiff respectfully suggests that an insurer may well neglect adequately or properly to investigate an accident. Often a new investigator or adjuster will overlook or fail to find obviously relevant data. Insurers are operated by fallible humans and an insurer may simply base a settlement on false facts or assumptions or incomplete data or may even allow itself to be misled by the other party.

In view of the fact that the most believable evidence on hand, which comes from two lifetime residents of the small county where the Mowers resided, shows that the tortfeasor in the accident was the releasor, Grant Mower, and not Berlant, there appears ample reason for a court of equity to set the release aside as based on a gross fundamental mistake of underlying fact. Also the sum paid in settlement of McAllister's claims might have been procured by a misrepresentation of fact or other misconduct, so the settlement should be voided. See *Viallet v. Consolidated Ry. & Power Co.*, 30 Utah 260, 84 Pac. 496 (1906) and *Kirchgestner v. Denver & R.G.W.R. Co.*, 118 Utah 20, 218 P.2d 685 (1950), (rev'd on other grounds, 118 Utah 41, 233 P.2d 696 (1951)).

Instead of proceeding to set the settlement aside so as to recover its \$5,150.00 as one would expect, Plaintiff's insurer has sided with the insurer representing Defendant for reasons best known to itself. (See R. 79-81.) Perhaps it is worth all of the \$5,150.00 and more to Plaintiff's insurer to establish in Utah a rule as to settlements whereby both parties' claims are automatically settled by a small payment to one by an insurer, regardless of the terms of the release taken.

Regardless of this, for the reasons set forth above, the fact a settlement is made does not, and should not, logically carry any inexorable legal inference of legal fault on the part of the party making the settlement and

this is particularly true when the person actually making the settlement is someone besides the party actually involved, i.e., the party's insurer. *Schledewitz v. Consumers Oil Cooperative, Inc.*, 357 P.2d 63 (Colo. 1960).

In *Schledewitz*, a car driven by the son of the owner and in which the daughter of the owner was riding as a passenger collided with a semi-trailer and tractor truck owned by Consumers Oil Coop. Consumers settled the claims the children might have for \$1,600.00, which was paid with the approval of the court, and a release was executed which stated it was not an admission of liability on the part of Consumers Oil. Consumers then sued the car owner for property damage and the owner sought to raise the release as a defense. The defense was stricken. The Colorado court noted that the release was limited by its terms to a release of Consumers' potential liability to the children and did not admit liability. There was no release of any rights Consumers had against the owner.

“[W]hat then could be the basis for holding that the release in question amounts to a defense in the instant action? No mental gymnastics will serve to expand its terms and provisions to the extent that it could be considered a release by Consumers of its right to recover for damages to its property, the only release being that of the children to sue for damages for personal injuries. If this instrument be deemed such that it may be pled as a bar to the instant action, such a status must be based upon some ground other than an actual ‘release’ as disclosed by the terms of the

instrument. The only such ground, and that ether-eal, is a possible contention that the release amounts to an admission by Consumers of facts which would affirmatively establish the defense of contributory negligence. We are not impressed with such a contention.

* * *

“We cannot agree with the general premise that any release amounts to an admission of negligence, thereby precluding the party accepting the release from bringing an action to recover his damages.

“The better view is that the acceptance or procurement of a release is not an admission by the releasee of liability on his part. . . .

“It is to be noted that the release here contains the language ‘It is further understood and agreed that this settlement is the compromise of a doubtful and disputed claim, and that the payment of said sum is not to be construed as an admission of liability on the part of the said Consumers Oil Company, by whom liability is expressly denied.’ It would indeed be difficult to construe this language as an admission of liability. At best, it might be classified as a manifestation of awareness that potential liability might exist. As such, it should be classified with other offers of compromise as inadmissible evidence.” 357 P.2d 63 at 66-67.

The subject release is, in all respects, the same as the release dealt with in *Schledewitz*. It does not carry any

admission of negligence at all, let alone one usable against Berlant, particularly in view of its last paragraph which expressly negates any such admission. The lower court clearly gave the release a wholly improper effect in disregard of law and its plain terms and must be reversed.

B. The Release is Unilateral and Not Mutual; and While It Releases McAllister's Claims Against Berlant, It Does Not Release Berlant's Claims Against McAllister.

The release says nothing whatever about Berlant's claims against McAllister, but only refers to McAllister's claims against Berlant. It simply provides that McAllister's claims against Berlant are relinquished for \$5,150.00 and nothing more. McAllister did not exact, nor did Berlant's insurer purport to grant, any equivalent relinquishment of Berlant's claims.

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