1970

Gordon Berlant v. John S. Mcallister, Adminis- Trator of the Estates of Grant Kimball Mower and Altha Mower, His Wife, Deceased : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PLAINTIFF ELECTED TO AND DID RATIFY THE SETTLEMENT MADE BY FARMERS TO PROTECT HIM.

The plaintiff must accept the burdens that go with the release obtained by Farmers as well as the benefits the settlement provides.

In the lower court the defendant did not claim the release constituted admission of negligence as a matter of law on the part of the plaintiff. In this court the defendant does not claim the release constitutes an admission of negligence as a matter of

law. In presenting Proposition A. under Point I appellant in his brief has presented to the court an immaterial issue.

The position of the defendant in the lower court and in this court is that the compromise and settlement made by Farmers is a mutual settlement of all claims between the plaintiff and the defendant because the plaintiff, after he learned of the settlement and compromise made on his behalf by Farmers, ratified the settlement and compromise by claiming the settlement, including the release taken by Farmers, as a defense to defendant's counterclaim.

The evidence is clear that plaintiff elected to and did ratify because:

1. He delivered the counterclaim to Farmers to defend.

2. At the hearing on April 10, 1970, the plaintiff claimed the benefit of the settlement, including the release.

3. Again on May 29, 1970, the plaintiff through his personal attorney in submitting a memorandum to the court, again claimed benefit of the settlement, including the release.

The defendant concedes that if the plaintiff had not elected to ratify and set up the release as a defense of the counterclaim, the release would not constitute a proper defense.

Keith vs. Glenn, 262 N.C. 284, 136 S.E. 2d 665

(1964), is a leading case. In this case the plaintiff brought an action to recover for personal injuries and property damage. The defendant counterclaimed seeking to recover for personal injuries and property damage sustained in the collision. The plaintiff, in reply to the counterclaim, alleged his liability insurer had paid defendant \$1,250 in full settlement of the defendant's claim against the plaintiff and that the defendant executed a release barring defendant's counterclaim. The court dismissed the complaint and counterclaim. The court said where the plaintiff elected to plead the receipt of \$1,250 by the defendant and an execution of the release by the defendant for the compromise and settlement of the disputed claim, the settlement barred the counterclaim and the plaintiff by pleading the release ratified the insurer's settlement and compromise and the parties each had to accept the burdens of the release as well as the benefits of settlement. In response to plaintiff's argument that sound legal principles should not be applied in controversies between insured motorists, the court said:

“Plaintiff argues this sound legal principle should not be applied in controversies between insured motorists. He has, he says, purchased and paid for insurance which will compensate those he may injure. A payment by his insurance carrier for injuries he inflicts should not impair his right to compensation for injuries he sustains. The contention would have merit if his insurance provided for payment irrespective of fault or liability. It does

not. It is liability, not accident insurance. Plaintiff's insurance carrier was under no obligation to pay unless plaintiff was legally liable. The insurance carrier had the right to compromise and settle claims asserted against its insured"

The cases cited by appellant in his brief are not in point. They involve factual situations in which it is clear that the insured made no effort to ratify the settlement or compromise made by his liability insurer.

In the cases cited by the appellant, in each instance the plaintiff did not have knowledge of the settlement made by the insurer and did nothing to show consent or ratification of the settlement.

In this case, Berlant, the plaintiff, claimed the fruits of the settlement agreement after discovering it. Mr. Berlant did not instruct Farmers to withdraw the release as a defense to the counterclaim. He did not instruct Mr. Jensen to move to amend the reply and vacate the release as a settlement. Instead, Mr. Berlant, through his attorney, Mr. Jensen, and through Farmers' attorney, relied on the release as a defense to the counterclaim until they were notified summary judgment was being granted dismissing the action. Mr. Berlant consented to the settlement made by Farmers and ratified it by standing on the release as a defense. Mr. Berlant is in the position of a principal trying to ratify a part of the agreement and repudiate the rest. He cannot take the rose without the thorns.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF'S RATIFICATION OF FARMERS' SETTLEMENT AND COMPROMISE IS IRREVOCABLE.

Since the counterclaim was greatly in excess of the plaintiff's liability insurance, it is understandable that he wanted to rely on the fruits of the compromise and settlement agreement. In this instance, Berlant, the plaintiff, did not act timely in seeking to revoke the ratification. Instead, he waited until the court ruled on the defendant's motion for summary judgment and then sought to obtain leave to amend his pleadings in order to withdraw the settlement as a defense.

White vs. Perry, 7 N.C. App. 36, 171 S.E. 2d 56 (1969), involved a factual situation similar to the case of Mr. Berlant. In the *White* case the plaintiff endeavored to withdraw a reply to avoid having it constitute a ratification of plaintiff's liability insurer's settlement. In *White vs. Perry, supra*, an action was brought by the plaintiff for personal injuries and property damage and a counterclaim was asserted by the defendant. In reply to the counterclaim the plaintiff asserted a release was obtained by his liability insurer from the defendant. Thereafter, apparently to avoid ratification of his liability insurer's settlement the plaintiff obtained an order from the court and withdrew the reply setting up the release as a defense. After an amended answer was filed the defendant again pled the release to be a bar to the plaintiff's claim. The lower court granted judg-

ment in favor of the defendant holding the release to bar plaintiff's claim. On appeal the court of appeals said:

"This leaves us with the proposition of whether the withdrawal by the plaintiff of the further reply constituted a revocation of the ratification. The answer is no. In *Norwood vs. Lassiter*, 132 N.C. 52, 43 S.E. 2d 509, it is said: 'When a party has the right to ratify or reject, he is put thereby to his election, and he must decide once and for all, what to do; and when his election is once made it immediately becomes irrevocable. This is an elementary principle. *Austin vs. Stewart*, 126 N.C. 525, 36 S.E. 2d 37.' See also Breckenridge, *Ratification in North Carolina*, 18 N.C. L. Review 308. Although the further reply has been withdrawn as a pleading, it was proper for Judge Bundy to consider it in making his findings of fact and conclusions of law. *Davis vs. Morgan*, 228 N.C. 8, 44 S.E. 2d 593 (1947).

Utah requires a principal to accept the entire contract negotiated by an agent and does not permit the principal to accept that portion only that he deems beneficial. In *Moses vs. Archie McFarland & Son*, 119 Utah 602, 230 P. 2d 571 (1951), an agent for Archie McFarland & Son purportedly, without authority, entered into a contract to deliver 30,000 pounds of mutton at the rate of 3,000 pounds or more per week as agreed to by the plaintiff. The defendant, after shipping approximately 6,625 pounds of a 30,000 pound order, tried to disaffirm its agent's order. In deciding the case in favor of the purchaser

Moses this court said it was too late for Archie McFarland & Son to repudiate the agreement after making the first shipment. Further the court said that where an agent has entered into a contract without authority and purportedly on behalf of his principal, the principal cannot confirm such part of the contract as is beneficial to him and reject the part which is claimed to be detrimental.

If Berlant did not want to accept the detriment of having the release obtained by Farmers bar his claim against McAllister, he should not have claimed the benefit of it to bar McAllister's counterclaim until the lower court ruled on McAllister's motion for summary judgment. If the plaintiff, Berlant, did not want to be bound by Farmer's agreement, he should have repudiated the release agreement promptly and should not have elected to stand on it until he knew the court's ruling on the defendant's motion for summary judgment.

In *Grandi vs. LeSage*, 74 N.M. 799, 399 P. 2d 285 (1965), a horse trainer as an agent employed by the seller registered a horse as a chestnut colt indicating it to be a stallion. In fact the horse was a gelding and after the buyer claimed it upon the official program showing it as a stallion the buyer demanded his money back upon discovering immediately the misrepresentation. In deciding the case the court said that upon acquiring knowledge of an agent's unauthorized act the principal should properly repudiate it or otherwise he will be presumed to

have ratified it and affirmed it. This court also said that when a principal expressly or impliedly elects to ratify an unauthorized act he must so far as it is entire, ratify the whole of it, and he will not be permitted to accept its benefits and reject its burdens.

Ratification is equivalent to an original grant of authority. Presumably, Berlant ratified the settlement when he did not immediately repudiate it. Clearly, between April 1969 and September 2, 1969, he did nothing to reject it.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO AMEND HIS REPLY.

The lower court awarded summary judgment in favor of the defendant dismissing the plaintiff's cause of action on September 2, 1969. The plaintiff's motion to amend the reply was not filed until September 5, 1969, or three days after the order was entered dismissing the plaintiff's action. Farmers, plaintiff's insurer, paid only \$5,150 for the deaths of two persons. The plaintiff stood on the release obtained by Farmers as a defense to the counterclaim. Udell R. Jensen, the personal attorney for Berlant, told the lower court they should have the benefit of the release. He did not repudiate it between April 1969, and September 2, 1969, the date the court ruled.

In *Goeltz vs. The Continental Bank & Trust Co.*, 5 Utah 2d 204, 299 P. 2d 832 (1956), an action

was brought against the bank to recover stock certificates delivered by the plaintiff to the bank. The plaintiff's former husband had forged plaintiff's endorsement on the certificates as security for a loan. During the trial the bank asked leave to amend its answer and set up the defense of the statute of limitations. The trial court refused to allow the amendment. In this case, facts upon which the statute of limitations defense was based were known to the bank prior to the bringing of the action. The court said that under Rule 15(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides that leave to amend shall be freely given when justice requires, the bank was not entitled to amend. The court said the bank was willing to waive the defense of the statute of limitations in the beginning and since the facts upon which the statute of limitations defense were known from the start to the bank there was no abuse of discretion in failing to permit the bank at trial to amend and plead the statute of limitations.

In *Hein's Turkey Hatcheries, Inc. vs. Nephi Processing Plant, Inc.* 470 P. 2d 257 (Utah 1970) a defendant moved to file an amended answer to be presented and this court held the amended answer was properly refused, saying that the motion to amend should have been pursued in advance of trial, not at the trial.

In another case, *Summerhays vs. Holm* 468 P. 2d 366 (Utah 1970), this court stated a controvert-

ing affidavit proffered at trial on a motion for summary judgment was not timely and without merit as a defense.

POINT IV

THERE WAS A VALID ACCORD AND SATISFACTION.

An accord and satisfaction is the giving of money paid over in payment or extinguishment of a claim. To constitute an accord and satisfaction there must be a proper subject matter, competent parties and the assent or meeting of the minds of parties and a consideration. An accord is an agreement between parties, one to give or perform, the other to receive or accept, such agreed payment or performance in satisfaction of a claim and the satisfaction is a consummation of such agreement.

Farmers' payment to Mr. McAllister consummated an accord and satisfaction. Utah recognizes this principle. In *Badger & Co. vs. Fidelity Building & Loan Association*, 94 Utah 97, 75 P. 2d 669 (1938), this court said that where the parties are in disagreement and, in good faith, thereafter reach a compromise settlement of the unliquidated and disputed claim, the settlement constitutes an accord and satisfaction.

The settlement between Farmers and the defendant McAllister in April, 1966, constituted an accord and satisfaction. The plaintiff, when he adopted the benefits of the settlement as a defense to the counterclaim ratified the accord and satisfac-

tion and was bound by the detriments in it as well as the benefits it gave him. The plaintiff takes the accord and satisfaction in its entirety, the thorns go with the rose.

CONCLUSION

The summary judgment in favor of the defendant should be affirmed because :

1. There is a valid accord and satisfaction.
2. The plaintiff elected to and did ratify the compromise and settlement made by Farmers.
3. The plaintiff did not repudiate or reject the compromise settlement timely after discovering it.
4. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to permit the plaintiff to amend his reply to revoke the ratification after making its ruling.